Between:

And Between:

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NOVA SCOTIA
Citation: National Bank Financial Ltd. v. Potter, 2008 NSSC 135

Date: 20080507
Docket: 206439

174293
193842
208293
216543
227347
Registry: Halifax
National Bank Financial Ltd.
Plaintiff
V.
Daniel Potter, Starr’s Point Capital Incorporated, Fiona Imrie,
Gramm & Company Incorporated, 2532230 Nova Scotia Limited,
3020828 Nova Scotia Limited, Ronald Richter, Donald Snow, Meg
Research.com Limited, 3027748 Nova Scotia Limited, Cavin
Wadden, Raymond Courtney, Bernard Schelew, Blois Colpitts,
Stewart McKelvey Stirling Scales, Bruce Clarke, 2317540 Nova
Scotia Limited and Knowledge House Inc.
Defendants
Bruce Clarke, Fiona Imrie, Gramm & Company Incorporated,
2532230 NovaScotiaLimited, 3020828 Nova ScotiaL imited, Calvin
Wadden, Bernard Schelew, Daniel Potter, Knowledge House Inc.,
Starr’ sPoint Capital Incorporated, Donald Snow, Meg Research.com
Limited, 3027748 Nova Scotia Limited and Raymond Courtney
Plaintiffs by
Counterclaim
V.
National Bank Financial Ltd., National Bank of Canada, Real
Raymond, Jean Turmel, Michael LaBonte, Lorie Haber, Guy Roby,
Eric Hicks, Barry Morse, David Mack and Bruce Clarke
Defendants by
Counterclaim
V.
Daniel Potter, Blois Colpitts, Stewart McKevley Stirling Scales and
Bruce Clarke
Defendants by
Cross-Claim



Knowledge House Inc. and Daniel Potter

V.
Stewart McKelvey Stirling Scales, Andrew W. Burke, R. Blois
Colpitts and James R. Cruickshank

The application and decision apply to the following related actions:
SH174293  (Debt Action)
SH193842  (Mahoney Action)
SH208293  (Barthe Action)
SH216543  (Keating Action)
SH227347  (Banks Action)

Judge:

Heard:

The Honourable Justice Gregory M. Warner

April 21% and 22", 2008, in Halifax, Nova Scotia

Page: 2

Plaintiffs

Defendants

Counsdl:

David G. Coles, Q.C., James A. Hodgson, Joshua J. Santimaw
and Robert E. Blair for National Bank Financial Ltd.
(“NBFL"™)

W. Dale Dunlop for Michael (Ben) Barthe, Lutz Ristow, Craig
Dunham, Derek Banks, Plastics MaritimeLtd., Lowell Welr,
Blackwood Holdings, Helical Corporation, Carole

McL auchlin-Weir, Calvin Wadden, Michael Mahoney and
3031775 Nova Scotia Limited

John F. Rook, Q.C. for Stewart McKelvey Stirling Scales
(“SMSS’), Andrew V. Burke, and James K. Cruickshank
George W. MacDonald, Q.C. and Cheryl Hodder for 3058703
Nova Scotia Limited (“Keating”)

Robert G. Belliveau, Q.C. for Staffing Strategists | nter national
Daniel Potter for Daniel Potter, Knowledge House Inc.
(“*KHI"), and Starr’s Point Capital Incor porated

Mary Jane M cGinty and Christine J. Doucet for Gary
Blandford, Julia Blandford and 3017804 Nova Scotia Limited



Page: 3
By the Court:

A.1 NBFL'sApplication

[1] NBFL appliesto amend its Statement of Claim in the “Main Action” and defences, cross-
claims, counterclaims and third party claimsin the other related actions to remove any materia
fact allegations that its former employee, Bruce E. Clarke, participated in the alleged conspiracy
to manipulate the stock price of KHI between 1999 and September 2001, or committed other
wrongful acts.

[2] NBFL submits that:

a) asoutlined in Consolidated Foods Cor p. Canadav. Stacey, (1986) 76 N.S.R.
(2d) 182 (NSCA), an amendment should be granted unless the responding parties can show that
the applicant has acted in bad faith or that by allowing the amendment the responding parties
would suffer serious prejudice that could not be compensated for in costs, and, furthermore, the
Chambers judge should not enter into an examination of the merits of the proposed amendment.

b) as stated in Scott Maritimes Pulp Limited v. B. F. Goodrich Canada et al
(1977) 19 N.SR. (2d) 181 (NSCA), the overriding consideration in exercising the discretion is
whether the amendment can be made without prejudice to the other side.

C) while a party opposing an amendment application must demonstrate that he would
be seriously prejudiced or that an injustice would be done by the amendment, an undue or
lengthy delay and the nature of the amendment may raise the presumption of prejudice that must
be rebutted by the proponent of the amendment. Wall v. Horn Abbot Ltd. (2000) 183 N.S.R.
(2d) 383 (NSSC) and Gillis Construction v. Nova Scotia Power Corp. (1988) 86 N.S.R. (2)
167 (NSSC).

d) nevertheless, a“party isordinarily given leave to make such amendments asis
reasonably necessary for the due presentation of his case”. Odgers on High Court Proceedings
and Practice, 23 Edition (London; Sweet & Maxwell, 1991), Page 199.

[3] NBFL cites two decisions where serious prejudice or injustice led to the dismissal of
applications to amend:

a) DeGruchy v. Pettipas (2004) 222 N.S.R. (2d) 198 (NSSC), where the
defendant’ s application made two weeks before trial of an action with along history, would
require further discoveries and an adjournment of the trial; and,

b) Hardy v. Prince George Hotel Ltd. (2004) 226 N.S.R. (2d) 1 (NSSC), where the
defendant’ s application to add athird party was dismissed. The defendant had added the third
party six years previous, discontinued against the third party five years previous and the trial was
scheduled within 18 months. The reason was the prejudice caused by the long delay resulting
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from the proposed amendment in respect of potential parties whose involvement was known
from the beginning.

[4] NBFL cites a circumstance where an amendment was granted. In Lamey v. Wentworth
Valley DevelopmentsLtd. (1999) 175 N.S.R. (2d) 356 (NSCA), the Plaintiff sought to amend
the claim commenced in November 1997 in respect of the death of ateenager on a ski trip in
February 1997, to add a claim for loss of earning capacity. On hearing the application in
September 1998, the Chambers judge found the amendment raised no justiciable issue and
dismissed the application. While the Court of Appeal held that “any amendment must contain a
justiciable issue” (1 14), it found at §] 17 that the Chambers' judge embarked upon an extensive
examination of the merits by examining the case law and statutes, an exercise reserved for the
trial judge, and not the Chambers’ judge who should have restricted himself to a bare finding
that the proposed amendment raised ajusticiable issue. Hisanalysis ssimply established asfar as
the Court of Appeal was concerned that atriableissue did exist. The Court of Appeal said the
test to be applied is the same as applied for afinding that a reasonable cause of action existsin
respect of an application to strike pleadings pursuant to Civil Procedure Rule 14.25(1)(a).

[5] In neither the two affidavits of Joshua Santimaw filed in support of its application, nor in
its brief, did NBFL explain or attempt to explain its purpose in seeking leave to amend the
pleadings. It did note that: on October 2", 2007, it had, as of right and without |eave pursuant to
CPR 40.01(a), discontinued any and all claims, cross-claims, counterclaims and third party
claims brought by it against Bruce Clarke in all of the actions; while these proceedings have
gone on for seven years they were still in their “very early stages’; the amendments do not
prejudice any party, especially Mr. Clarke; all parties have had the opportunity to commence
against Mr. Clarke personally and if any of them have not done so it is their responsibility for
conducting the litigation in the manner they deem fit; discoveries had not commenced; and the
application is made in good faith.

[6] The closest that NBFL comes to giving areason for the proposed amendmentsis:

“ NBFL discontinued al of its claims against Mr. Clarke to narrow its issues
before the court for the due presentation of its case at discoveries and then later at
trial. NBFL istherefore not adding any new causes of action but, in fact,
removing allegations against a party it discontinued its claims against, which is
permitted under the Civil Procedure Rules. It would be odd indeed if NBFL,
exercising its right to discontinue against a party, in these circumstances [is] not
allowed to drop the very allegations setting forth the now discontinued claim.”

B. The Record

[7] The record in respect of this application consists of the pleadings, published decisionsin
this litigation, together with the previous decisions on file along with the following affidavits:
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1 Joshua Santimaw’ s short February 7", 2008 affidavit attaching the last amended
pleadings, the proposed replacement pleadings, a copy of an application of August 2007
by NBFL to accessits former counsel’ s file to access prima facie privileged materials
before Mr. Potter waived privilege, Justice Scanlan’s order of December 2007 dismissing
the application, and a statement that document disclosure was ongoing, discoveries had
not been held and the action not scheduled for trial.

2. Daniel Potter’s February 22", 2008 |lengthy affidavit setting out the history of
NBFL’s position with respect to a conspiracy to manipulate the trading of shares, and, in
particular, Bruce Clarke' sroleinit.

3. Craig Dunham’ s February 22", 2008 affidavit setting out the history of his
involvement with Bruce Clarke and histrading in KHI shares through Mr. Clarke.

4, Craig Dunham’ s supplementary affidavit of March 3, 2008, outlining the
prejudice to him, centring on hisinsolvency as aresult of these proceedings, his defaults
in respect of the litigation arising from his impecuniousity and hisinability to continue
the litigation, which he attributes to NBFL’s conduct of these proceedings, and his
inability to respond to further delays and costs if the application is granted.

5. Joshua Santimaw’ s supplementary March 6™, 2008 affidavit in response to the
Potter affidavit; it highlights the series of eventsinitiated by Daniel Potter for himself,
KHI and Starr’ s Point, including: the filing, in November 2003, of a defence and
counterclaim alleging wrongful conduct by NBFL, its lawyers, officers and employees
including Mr. Clarke and Mr. Mack and cross-claiming against SMSS and Blois Colpitts
for wrongful conduct; his September 24" discontinuance of the cross-claim against
SMSS and Colpitts; Justice Scanlan’s June 2005 dismissal of the application to strike
NBFL’ s actions on the basis of the pleadings not being inconsistent (upheld by the Court
of Appeal), followed by Justice Scanlan’s further order not to strike NBFL’s pleadings
but to turf itslegal counsel for improper examination of prima facie privileged e-mails;
Potter’ s commencement in 2006 of a separate action against SMSS and Colpitts
containing the same claims he had filed in 2003 and discontinued in 2004; Justice
Scanlan’s January 2007 order to consolidate this new action with the Main Action,
thereby effectively producing as aresult the same situation, that is, disclosure and
production of the privileged e-mails, except for a substantial delay in proceeding and the
remova of NBFL’sformer counsel from the case.

6. George MacDonald’ s February 22", 2008 affidavit attaching correspondence to
NBFL’s counsel offering to consent to their amendments subject to NBFL’ s agreement
not to produce evidence at trial that would support its material fact allegations against
Clarke, or consequently, suggests that Keating should have known of any market
manipulation or wrongful acts of Clarke which caused the losses claimed by Keating
against NBFL. By asupplementary affidavit dated April 2", 2008, Mr. MacDonald
attached NBFL' s |etter declining the offer.
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7. An affidavit sworn April 3", 2008, by James Wilson, President of Staffing
Strategist, smply relying on the pleadings on file and the affidavits of Mr. Potter and Mr.
Dunham to support its argument.

8. Daniel Potter’s supplementary affidavit of April 8", 2008, attaching: aletter dated
July 16", 2008, from Mr. Dunlop, counsel for Dr. Ristow, to NBFL’s counsel relating his
intention to proceed with a summary judgment application against NBFL, in which
application he intended to focus on the wrongful actions of Mr. Clarke; an e-mail dated
September 10™, 2008, noting that Justice Hood was requesting agreement on dates for the
hearing of that application in the fall; and, documents showing that Mr. Hodgson had
been legal counsel for NBFL in these actions at |east since December 2003.

0. Gary Blandford's affidavit of February 29", 2008 stating in summary that:

a) in response to NBFL’s 2004 action against the Blandfords, they relied on
NBFL’ s outstanding pleadings against Clarke which were incorporated by reference by
NBFL in its defence to the Blandfords' counterclaim against NBFL based on Clarke’'s
wrongful conduct against them;

b) NBFL’ s defence to their counterclaim was filed 16 months later in
February 2006 and incorporated NBFL’s material fact pleadings against Clarke;

C) only in October 2007, six years after the events, does NBFL seek to
amend pleadings to remove allegations against Clarke;

d) NBFL has provided no explanation or reason for the proposed
amendment; and,

e) NBFL’ s proposed amendment would prejudice the Blandfords who did
not sue Clarke based on NBFL’s pleadings.

10.  Transcripts of the evidence of Joel Wiesenfeld and Lorie (Lawrence) Haber
before Justice Scanlan, March 16, 2005.

11. Bulletin #3673 and the decision of the Investment Dealers Association of Canada
(“IDA) of August 27, 2007, respecting NBFL’ s conduct.

12. TheBrian Awad March 8, 2003 memo, parts of the transcript of his evidence of
July 15, 2005 before Justice Scanlan, and correspondence (appendixed to SMSS's brief).

Respondents’ Submissions
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[8] The Court received pre-hearing memorandums on behalf of their respective clients from
George W. MacDonald, Q.C., W. Dale Dunlop, John F. Rook, Q.C., Daniel Potter, Mary Jane
McGinty and Robert G. Belliveau, Q.C. All, except Mr. Belliveau, supplemented their written
submissions with oral arguments.

C.1 Keating' s Submission

[9] The Keating response differed from the others. Its response dealt solely with the action
commenced in March 2004 by Keating against NBFL. NBFL’s defense denied misconduct, and
aternatively pleaded that if market manipulation occurred it was an unlawful scheme of Bruce
Clarke, Daniel Potter, Blois Colpitts and others, of which scheme NBFL had no knowledge and
for which it was not vicarioudly liable for Clarke's acts. Its defence alleged that Keating was
complicite in the stock manipulation. NBFL further third partied against approximately twenty
other persons or corporations that it claimed were part of the stock manipulation conspiracy.

[10] Keating wrote NBFL in January 2008 that it would consent to the proposed amendments
initsaction if NBFL gave an undertaking that at trial it would not:

a) introduce any evidence of any wrongdoing by Bruce Clarke; and,

b) suggest that Charles Keating should have known of market manipulation being
conducted by or any unlawful acts of Bruce Clarke, which caused or contributed to the |osses
suffered by Keating and for which Keating sued NBFL.

[11]  Without entering into any further discussion, NBFL simply replied by letter of March 6"
that NBFL “cannot consent to your proposal”.

[12] Keating asks that the Court only grants the proposed amendments subject to the
conditions that:

a) NBFL not be permitted to introduce any evidence at trial of any wrongdoing of
Bruce Clarke; and,

b) NBFL not be permitted to suggest that Charles Keating should have known of any
market manipulation or wrongful acts being conducted by Bruce Clarke which caused or
contributed to the losses claimed herein.

[13] Keating argues that the conditions requested reflect the substance and purpose of the
Civil Procedure Rules, in particular Rule 14.04, 14.12(1)(a) and (b) and 14.14 which it
summarizes as requiring a party to plead:

a) factson which it relies;
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b) particulars of misrepresentation, fraud, breach of trust, wilful default or malice;
C) any aternative version of factsintended to be proved; and,
d) any matter that could undermine the claim or take the other party by surprise.

[14] Insupportit cites Ford v. Kennie, 2002 NSCA 140, Ys 50 to 52; Banco de Inversion Y
Comercio Exterior S.A. v. Bank of Nova Scotia, 2005 NSSC 109, ] 15; 353905 Ontario Ltd
v. Nova Scotia, (1998) 169 N.S.R. (2d) 88 (NSSC), 1 10; Kent Homes v. Balcom, 2005 NSSM
6, s 8 and 9; and, Rowe v. New Cap Inc. (1994) 134 N.S.R. (2d) 52 (NSSC), 1 12.

[15] Thefactual basisfor its argument isthat in 2001 NBFL commenced debt collection
actions that did not include any allegation of stock manipulation. In response to an alegation by
one of the defendants, it investigated the matter, and in March 2003 commenced a separate
action, referred to in this complex litigation as the “Main Action”, in which it alleged a stock
manipulation scheme against several individuals including Bruce Clarke from whom it claimed
remedies for loss and damage.

[16] Keating relies upon several portions of the March 16, 2005 transcript of the evidence of
L orie Haber, Executive Vice-president of corporate devel opment and governance of NBFL,
respecting NBFL’ s investigation that led to the Main Action, and the reasons for naming Bruce
Clarke as a defendant.

[17] Haber referred to the March 5, 2003 memorandum prepared by Brian Awad, one of
NBFL’sformer counsel, before they accessed the privileged e-mails on the KHI server. His
evidence was in part as follows:

“109. A. ... | recall that we had been discussing for some time whether
we had sufficient evidence to responsibly bring alegal action
against various other parties making the kinds of allegations and
the Statements of Claim that we made that ultimately ended up
being this—what | call the stock manipulation claim. And |
remember we were looking at it from a bunch of different ways.

149. Q. And to this point in time, having read the memorandum, you
knew that there were, at least in the view of Mr. Awad, five
principals of Knowledge House who were alleged to have been
engaged in some form of stock manipulation. Correct?

A. Yes.

150. Q. Y ou also knew, did you not, that it was alleged that Mr. Clarke
and Mr. Colpitts, at least at that stage, were viewed as
accomplices? Correct?

A. Yes. Right.
194. A. .. .We had been evidence gathering and fact gathering along the

way. A lot of theinformation in evidence that we had, we
obtained through analysis of our own files. A lot of information



in evidence that we had, we had from the examination of Mr.
Clarke' s National Bank Financidl files. .. ."

[18] Astothe meaning of “responsibly made”, he testified:

“362 A.
363. Q.
A.

Sure. We were very interested in recovering money from the
people who we believed owed us money. We were also very
sensitive to the fact that in order to broaden the scope of the
people that we were looking for for money we would have to
make very serious claims of artificial price support, stock
manipulation and so on. And we don'’t take those kinds of things
lightly and we wouldn’t do such if we didn’t feel comfortable
that we had sufficient evidence and grounds to make them and
have avery good feeling that we were — that we had a
compelling case to make. We were also very sensitive to the fact
that in order to do so, we were going to have to make allegations
against, in addition to our own clients and some of the people we
had dealings with, a very prominent Halifax law firm, very
prominent lawyer in Halifax law firm, and so we took it
serioudly, we took it carefully and we took it slowly.

So for every person named in the Statement of Claim, you had
the type of evidence in hand that would be necessary to establish
their participation in this fraud.

We believed that we had more than sufficient evidence to name
every person in that claim responsibly.”

[19] Specifically with respect to Bruce Clarke, he testified:

“303. Q.
A.
304. Q.
A.
308. Q.
A.
309. Q.
A.
329. Q.

And in this particular case, at that point in time based on the
drafting of the pleading that was ongoing, National was
essentially alleging that it was avictim of amassive fraud by a
number of individuals. Correct?

Yes.

And it was essentially alleging that Mr. Clarke, your former
employee, had acted improperly. Correct?

Yes.

And you alege in the Statement of Claim that was ultimately
issued that Mr. Clarke engaged in all kinds of improper
activities, did you not?

Yes.

And that was your view at the time.

Yes.

| see. Soyou didn't think that a public pleading in which you
allege amassive conspiracy, in which you alege that Blois
Colpitts broke the law, in which you allege that Mr. Clarke was
on afrolic of his own, that somehow or other that wasn’t going

Page: 9
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to be of any assistance to you in deflecting the investigations by
the Commissions? |Isthat your evidence?

Yes.

Wéll, then, what was the reason?

The reason was very simple, and there' s no controversy about
this. We had decided in March that we had over whelming
evidence to proceed with this action, and we had a list of people
that we were going to sue. We took some time getting around to
finishing it. One of thethingsthat wasnever an issueis
whether we were going to sue Bruce Clarke. And | must tell
you, it was no mean feat to get to the point of saying, “You
know what? We'regoing to haveto let these chipsfall where
they may and we ar e going to sue our own employee.” And
we believed that we should be bringing our action so that when
we brought our action and sued our own employeeit stood
on itsown ground. It'sactually quite the opposite what you
say. Our fear was that if we waited and filed the pleadings that
we were planning to file until after the regulators came that then
it would like we were trying to deflect it.” (emphasis added)

330.

>0 >

[20] Keating submitsthat one of NBFL’s senior executives decided in March 2003 (confirmed
under oath in March 2005) that NBFL had “overwhelming evidence’ to “reasonably make” the
claims made against Bruce Clarke and that the decision to sue Clarke “ stood on its own ground”.

[21] Citing Ryan v. Kirby (1993) 350 A.P.R.172 (P.E.1.S.C.), Ys 13 and 14, and 19 to 21,
Keating submits that NBFL must plead al of the material facts of any “affirmative defence”, as
disclosure is the essence of pleadings and matters not disclosed may not be relied upon.

[22] It submitsthat its request that NBFL admit material facts based on its proposed
amendments, will simply settle in advance the legal requirement that: the material facts relied
upon by NBFL must be pleaded; and the other parties be given reasonable notice of NBFL’s new
factual matrix. If the amendment is permitted without conditions, the necessary round of
Demands for Particulars of the material facts relied upon by NBFL to prove the revamped
conspiracy theory will lengthen the proceedings and create unnecessary expense. The delay and
expense will be multiplied by the number of parties and actions and the complex nature of these
proceedings.

[23] Keating further argues that a second purpose of attaching conditions to the granting of the

proposed amendment would be to foreclose NBFL from again reversing its position, asit did in
2003, at some time between now and trial.

C.2 Dunlop Clients Response

[24] Thisbrief cites at length Justice Fichaud’ s synopsis of the amendment test in Jeffrey v.
Naugler, 2006 NSCA 117.
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[25] Counsel submitsthat before the respondents have an onus to establish bad faith and/or
the requisite prejudice (that is, prejudice that cannot be compensated in costs), the applicant is
required to produce, by affidavit(s), evidence that will alow the Court and the respondents to

understand the reason for the application.

[26] Counsel advocates application of the principles stated in The Law of Civil Procedure, by
Williston and Rolls, cited and applied by Justice Maclntosh in Shorev. Cantwell and Cantwell,
(1975) 21 N.S.R. (2d) 288, and most recently applied by Justice Legere-Sersat 54 in
Jachimowicz v. Jachimowicz, 2008 NSSC 40, to the effect that the party seeking to amend must
establish why the amendment is sought. The same point - the requirement for an explanation for
an amendment - was reviewed in the context of the “bad faith” analysisat 14 in Welsh v.
Mont, 2002 CarswelINS 599 (NSSC).

[27]  Inassessing the two Santimaw affidavits filed in support of NBFL’ s application, counsel
submits that the Court should take guidance from the Alberta Court of Appeal analysisin
Mikisew CreeFirst Nation v. Canada, 2002 Carswell Alta 603, to the effect, at s 10 and 12,
that it is a substantive, and not merely technical, requirement that the applicant proffer evidence
from someone with real knowledge of the claim to state the belief upon which the amendment is
proposed, and, at 1 26, that while some amendments are trivial, those alleging new facts of
substance require some evidence.

[28] He submitsthat Santimaw’s affidavits provide no evidence to substantiate what are
substantial amendments that completely change NBFL’ s theory of the case and attempt to
withdraw a clear admission with respect of Bruce Clarke' s conduct. Relying on Antipasv.
Coroneos, 1988 CarswellOnt 358 (OHCJ), and, Maingot v. National Helicoptersinc., 2006
CarswellOnt 138 (Master), he argues that the proposed amendments in this case constitute
withdrawal of admissions and for that additional reason, the application must identify, by
affidavit, the reason for the withdrawal and a statement that the original admission was made by
reason of inadvertence or improper instructions.

[29] Applying thisrequisite, to this case, counsel relies on the evidence of Lorie Haber to the
effect that the decision to commence the Main Action against Clarke, was not inadvertent but a
deliberate, carefully considered decision based on NBFL’s thorough investigation including
records available to them as Clarke’ s employer. The decision was not the result of the changein
legal counsel, who in any event are not “new” counsel, having been on the case since 2003.

[30] Hearguesthat the failure to provide substantive reasons in affidavit form for the
amendment is strong (presumably inferential) evidence that the application is made for ulterior
motives and in bad faith. Based on the Dunham affidavits, he argues that there can be no proper
purpose for the proposed amendments.

[31] Ontheissue of what constitutes prejudice that cannot be compensated in costs, counsel
starts his argument with Justice Wright's analysisin Mitsui & Co. v. Jones Power Corp., 2001
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NSSC 178, s 32 to 37. In Mitsui, the defendant substantially altered its theory of the case late
in the litigation, after aruling upholding the validity of a Memorandum of Understanding.
Justice Wright was not prepared to permit general amendments which left the respondent in the
position of having to speculate as to the significance of the changes. He agreed to permit
amendments that contained particulars of the material fact allegations of the applicant.

[32] Contrary to the Mitsui procedural matrix, NBFL commenced itsfirst actions alleging
Clarke did nothing wrong; in 2003 it changed its position with the commencement of the Main
Action. Mr. Dunlop argues that the removal of Clarke as a participant in the stock manipulation
conspiracy, when NBFL alleged that he was the person through whom the stocks were

manipul ated, leaves a huge gap in their conspiracy theory. By whom and how did the stock
manipulation conspiracy get put into effect?

[33] To permit the amendment would, in hisview, lead to alengthy (on the basis of past
experience) and expensive round of Demand for Particulars from NBFL to be followed by
requisite amendments by the respondents to their pleadings. Not all of the litigants have the
same financial means as NBFL to continue what has been, to date, seven years of pleadings and
document production.

[34] The second Dunham affidavit outlines that: he has been driven to impecuniousity as a
result of the proceedings in thislitigation; heisin default in his obligations to hislegal counsdl;
heisliving on credit; and heis at the end of his ability to continue participating in the litigation
that NBFL started against him. As aresult anything that would further delay the process will
effectively prevent him from having NBFL’s claims against him determined on their merits.

[35] Citing Merzbach v. McSween, 1997 CarswelINS 425 (NSCA) to the effect that a cost
award to overcome a prejudicial amendment should be modest and not on the scale of solicitor-
client costs, Mr. Dunlop argues that separate from legal expenses, Mr. Dunham, and by anal ogy
many of the other smaller litigants, is prejudiced by alengthy round of particulars and
consequential pleadings amendments by this proposed substantial but unexplained changein
NBFL’ s position (the second taken by NBFL). The prejudice is beyond the capacity of a modest
cost award to compensate for.

[36] Dunlop’sbrief arguesthat no basis exists for NBFL to revert to its pre-2003 position
with respect to a stock manipulation scheme with Clarke as acentral figure. Itisfor that reason
that NBFL does not provide areason to this Court. The proposed amendment is not made in
good faith. NBFL’s counsel are not “new” to the file; they have been on the case since 2003.
While they were denied access to the prima facie privileged e-mails improperly obtained in the
summer and fall of 2003 by NBFL’sformer counsel, NBFL and their present counsel have had
access, better access than any other party, to all of the records, documents and activities of Bruce
Clarke who was their employee throughout the relevant period of time.

[37]  Mr. Dunlop submits that the only significant event, that predates the October 2", 2007
NBFL discontinuance of all claims against Mr. Clarke and this application to del ete their
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material fact allegations against Mr. Clarke, was the Ristow summary judgment application. Mr.
Dunlop wrote to NBFL’s counsel on July 16™, 2007 with respect to proceeding with the
summary judgment application. Inthe letter he stated:

“It seems to me that the one overriding issue that Justice Hood will have to
determine is whether or not there is enough evidence at this stage to almost
conclusively demonstrate that Bruce Clarke was involved in the manipulation of
KHI stock throughout the years 2000 and 2001. As none of my clients have
claimed against anyone other than NBFL, she will not be required to determine
who was a member of the conspiracy and possibly not even if therewas a
conspiracy. ItisMr. Clarke's actions and the consequences thereof that will be
the focus of my application.”

[38] Thisapplication would be the first time NBFL’ s allegation of material fact against Bruce
Clarke (which counsel says were admissions) would be used against NBFL. If NBFL could
amend its pleadings as requested, it could argue in the Ristow application that atriable issue
remains to be determined. He submits that NBFL knew, as shown by the Lorie Haber 2005
evidence, the consequences of commencing the Main Action alleging a conspiracy of which
Bruce Clarke was a participant, and cannot now, without any explanation, withdraws those
allegations of material fact, evenif it chooses, as of right, to discontinue its claims against Mr.
Clarke.

[39] Inora submissions Mr. Dunlop highlighted:

a) without an explanation from NBFL, by affidavit, of the alleged factual basisfor
the proposed amendments, the respondents are left to guess at what the cause of action means
and such is contrary to the practice recognized and upheld in Jachimowicz and Welsh.

b) the respondents cannot prove absence of good faith without an explanation of the
reason for the amendments except by asking the Court to draw inferences.

C) contrary to NBFL’ s representation, their counsel are not “new” to the file and
there is nothing in the Santimaw affidavits from which one can conclude or surmise that they
only recently came into possession of new information that could form the basis for the
substantially altered material fact allegations of facts respecting Bruce Clarke' s actions; on the
contrary, they have information in respect of Bruce Clarke that no one else has, including, for
example:

1 the materials (over which NBFL claims privilege) submitted by them to
the various securities commissions and investment dealer associations in respect
of investigations; and

i) the expertise, resources, and access to the information to review and
analyze the trading in KHI shares during the relevant period, much of which
information has not yet been disclosed to the respondents.
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Justice Scanlan’ s restriction on NBFL counsels' access to former NBFL lawyers and some senior
executives has not been shown by any affidavit to have restricted them from access to
information that was in the possession of NBFL except for the few prima facie privileged e-
mailsimproperly obtained from the KHI server, and some working papers.

d) nothing in the affidavits hints that the material fact allegations in the Main Action
and related pleadings in other actions, by which NBFL has alleged since 2003 a stock
manipulation conspiracy of which Clarke was a key participant, are not now proper material fact
allegations, or explain areversal in the conclusions reached by NBFL in 2003 after its thorough
investigation (as testified to by Lorie Haber in 2005).

€) the timing of the proposed amendments, in relation to the Ristow summary

judgment application, istoo coincidental to ignore, especialy in light of the absence of any bona
fide explanation.

C.3 Blandfords Response

[40] Ms. McGinty reviewed the history of her clients' involvement with Bruce Clarke and
NBFL. InBlandfords defence and counterclaim to NBFL’s 2004 action against them, they
allege, as amaterial fact, that Bruce Clarke, employed by NBFL, refused and/or failed to sell
KHI shares owned by them when instructed to do so. They counterclaimed against NBFL for
Clarke' swrongful actions.

[41] Counsdl directsthe Court’'s attention to 1 2 of NBFL’s defence to Blandfords
counterclaim, filed in April 2007, in which NBFL incorporated by reference its pleadings in the
Main Action (SH 206439) and Barthe Action (SH 208293). She highlights that in neither the
Main Action nor the Barthe Action was NBFL’s claim of fraudulent misrepresentation and
conspiracy involving Bruce Clarke sets up as an aternative claim. Ms. McGinty argues that
Justice Scanlan’ s decision respecting alternate pleadings (2005 NSSC 8), upheld by the Court of
Appeal, (2005 NSCA 139) is not relevant or applicable to the Blandford pleadings.

[42] Blandfords primary submission isthat the material fact allegations incorporated by
reference in NBFL’ s defence to their counterclaim were admissions. Citing Civil Procedure
Rule 14.04 and NBFL v. Mahoney, 2005 NSCA 139, 1 10, she submits that pleadings constitute
statements of material fact upon which a party may rely and that alitigant may not plead what it
knows to be false.

[43] CitingBC Ferryv. T & N, 1993 CarswellBC 703, 1 14; Kamei Sushi Japanese
Restaurant v. Epstein, 1996 CarswelIBC 1237, {is 12, 14, and 15; and Hughesv. Toronto
Dominion Bank, 2002 CarswellOnt 1544, she submits that admissions are deliberate pleadings
made as a concession to the opponent. This requires the admittor to make an informed decision
before conceding a material fact.
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[44] Inarguing that NBFL’ s pleadings were intended to be unambiguous deliberate
admissions, based on plausible facts, she directs the Court’ s attention to the Lorie Haber March
2005 testimony, Brian Awad’ s extensive March 2003 memo, and the May 13", 2004 settlement
agreement between Bruce Clarke and the Nova Scotia Securities Commission.

[45] Civil Procedure Rule 21.02(4) authorizes the Court to allow withdrawal of admissions.
Circumstances under which they may be withdrawn, as outlined in Antipas, was adopted by
Justice MoirinL & B Electricv. Oickle, 2005 NSSC 110 (1 17), and assumed without
argument to be correct on appeal (2006 NSCA 41, at 1 22), wherein Justice Hamilton noted:

“It is broad enough to allow ajudge to weigh the competing policies of the right
of aparty to have atriable issue tried with the need for expedient and responsible
litigation, in determining what isright.”

[46] NBFL’sdefenceto Blandfords counterclaim was not made in haste or by inadvertence.
It took 16 months (October 2004 to April 2007) for NBFL to file its defence to Blandfords
counterclaim.

[47] Blandfordsrely on NBFL’s pleadings of material fact against Bruce Clarke, and submit
that it was reasonable to do so in al of the circumstances. Now that the limitation period for
commencing an action against Bruce Clarke has passed, the Blandfords would be prejudiced in a
manner that could not be compensated by costs, by NBFL’ s proposed amendments.

[48] Counsel submitsthat in the circumstances NBFL should be estopped from withdrawing
the allegations/admissions against Bruce Clarke based on the estoppel principle described by
Lord Denningin H. Clark Ltd. v. Wilkinson [1965] 1 All E.R. 934 cited and adopted by the
Nova Scotia Court of Appeal at 16 in Sears Canada Inc. v. Wilson, 1990 CarswelINS 452.

[49] Counsel relieson Maingot supra and Canada Post Corp. v. Keymail CanadalInc.,
2006 CarswellOnt 4108.

[50] Counsel arguesthat NBFL now seeksto withdraw its allegations “not because they are
any less true but because they may prove to be inconvenient in this particular process’.

[51] It submitsthat the Court should exerciseits discretion so as to prevent what isin the
circumstances of this case an offence to the integrity of the court process.

C.4 Potter Response

[52] Potter’s brief details why NBFL’ s amendment application is made in bad faith and, to a
lesser degree, why granting it in its present form would cause prejudice that cannot be
compensated in costs.
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[53] Potter submitsthat neither the Santimaw affidavits nor NBFL’s brief contains any reason
for itsradical change in position which focuses solely on removing Bruce Clarke from
allegations of wrong doing and conspiracy. Of the 130 paragraphsin NBFL’sthird amended
Statement of Claim (May 2006) in the Main Action, sixty-five are simply descriptive and contain
no allegations while the other sixty-five contain allegations in respect of the conspiracy and
fraud. Fifty-six of the sixty-five “alegation” paragraphs include allegations of wrongful conduct
by Bruce Clarke. Only nine of the sixty-five “allegation” paragraphs do not contain fraud and
conspiracy allegations involving Bruce Clarke. The proposed amendments remove Clarke from
fifty-six “allegation” paragraphs.

[54] Potter argues that the reverse onus on the respondents - to show bad faith by NBFL and
prejudice that cannot be compensated in costs, does not relieve NBFL of providing adequate
affidavit evidence of the need for the proposed amendments. He cites Jachimowicz at fls40to
54, and adopts Justice Wright’s analytical framework in Mitsui:

a) First, the opponents must show bad faith or prejudice that cannot be compensated
in costs; and,

b) Second, the Court must examine the application in the context of the entire
litigation, including the approach taken by the parties to date, which, in the Mitsui case, included
extensive pre-trial proceedings.

[55] Justice Wright found that Jones Power’ s application was not precipitated in bad faith but
rather from the reality of abinding judicial finding by the Supreme Court, upheld by the Court of
Appeal, that akey MOU was valid and could be the only basis for litigation of the remaining
issues. Citing s 28 and 29, Potter notes that Justice Wright concluded that the change in the
landscape of the case precipitated Jones Power to request “necessary amendments to reflect the
factual reality.”

[56] Potter submits that nothing in the history of the KHI litigation to date makes apparent
why NBFL’s amendments are necessary. He compares NBFL’s approach to that of Mr. Lienaux
in Jachimowicz.

[57] Potter outlines six reasons for finding that NBFL was acting in bad faith. None of them
relate to the merits of the dispute or require credibility findings or complex factual analysis.

[58] First, NBFL hasfailed to state a bona fide reason for the amendments. It provides no
evidence of a settlement with Clarke, and while the Santimaw affidavits refer to Justice
Scanlan’s December 4™, 2007 order confirming his May 2005 prohibition order against NBFL
contact with their prior legal counsel (ironically the basis upon which Justice Scanlan declined to
stay NBFL’ s action for misconduct), there is no suggestion in the affidavit as to how Justice
Scanlan’s May 2005 order confirmed in December 2007 necessitates the proposed amendments
at thistime.
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[59] Second, NBFL has not responded to the various respondent’ s affidavits containing
factual allegations of bad faith.

[60] Third, NBFL’s present legal counsel have repeatedly filed pleadings alleging fraud and
conspiracy involving Clarke. Mr. Hodgson has been counsel since at |east December 2003 and
was present for three weeks of evidence by NBFL’s senior executives and former legal counsel
in March 2005; Mr. Coles has been counsel for almost three years.

[61] Fourth, NBFL’simproper motives are clear on the face of the present pleadings and
proposed amendments. The proposed amendments remove the only conspirator who was
authorized as aregistered representative to enter trades of KHI shares on a stock exchange.
Removing Bruce Clarke “hollows out” the underpinnings of the conspiracy/fraud claim by
effectively removing the only stock manipulator. The remaining pleading isincoherent and will
require further amendments and/or particulars to provide the respondents with sufficient notice
to fairly understand and respond to the amended claim.

[62] Fifth, the timing of the proposed amendments, following shortly after Mr. Dunlop’s
notice to NBFL’s counsel that the Ristow summary judgment application was proceeding and
that Bruce Clarke' s actions would be the key and central aspect of the application, is not
coincidental. On July 16™, 2007, Mr. Dunlop gave notice that the application would centre on
Clarke' s action. On September 10", 2007, dates for the hearing of the application were
discussed by counsel with Justice Hood. Potter submits:

“it can reasonably be inferred from the approach of summary judgment day in the
Ristow application that NBFL could see that the logic of having sued its own
employee in August of 2003 was in sharp decline. . . If NBFL’s original move in
suing Mr. Clarke had integrity, then the present change does not.”

[63] Sixth, bad faith can be inferred by NBFL’s ever changing position over seven years. It
commenced litigation in October 2001 with 16 debt collection actions (later consolidated into the
Debt Action) and the termination for cause of Bruce Clarke for the stated reason of “credit
management”, in which notice NBFL expressly declared possession of no knowledge of any
inappropriate conduct by Bruce Clarke. This position was maintained in the civil litigation even
in aMarch 14™, 2003 defence to a counterclaim against it in one of the related actions.

However, in early 2002 NBFL was dealing with regulators respecting the conduct of Bruce
Clarke aswell astheir supervision, or lack thereof, of him. In communications in January 2002
with the Investment Dealer’ s Association (“IDA”) and on February 20™, 2002 in
communications with the Nova Scotia Securities Commission, NBFL took a different position.
This evidence of bad faith is referenced at s 45 to 50 of Justice Scanlan’s May 10", 2005
decision. Only in August 2003, in commencing the Main Action, did NBFL clearly allege a
fraud and conspiracy directed against it, of which Bruce Clarke was a key participant.

[64] Potter claims that the proposed amendments, made six and a half years after itslitigation
was commenced, create a major access to justice issue for uninsured and/or self-represented
individuals. The ambiguity, asto how the conspiracy and fraud were committed and the roles of
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the respective wrongdoers, |eaves the respondents without fair notice of the particulars of the
watered-down version of the conspiracy and thiswill lead to ayear of demands for particulars
and amendments to other pleadings in the six actions involved. Potter suggests that only after
these are completed can the litigation, including his estimate of 200 days of discovery, and 100
days of trial, continue.

[65] The delay that would be caused by the proposed amendment is not a serious problem for
alargeinstitutional litigant but is a serious financial and personal strain on the many parties who
arenot in NBFL’sleague. Payment of costs between parties who are not in the same league
cannot overcome the prejudice caused by the serious imbalance.

[66] Potter’soral argument focussed on the reasons in Justice Scanlan’s decision (2005 NSSC
8) upheld by the Court of Appeal (2005 NSCA 139) for refused to strike’' sNBFL’s “inconsistent
pleadings’, and upon what knowledge could have come into NBFL’ s possession since November
2004 that could have altered the basis for the material fact allegations against Clarke.

[67] Inthe November 2004 application, opponents of NBFL sought to strike the pleadings that
denied the existence of a stock manipulation scheme involving Clarke, because Clarke had
signed a settlement agreement with the Nova Scotia Housing Commission acknowledging he
was involved in an arrangement that violated securities regulations to assist an insider group to
maintain the price of KHI shares. Justice Scanlan noted that Clarke and the other alleged
conspirators were maintaining denialsin their pleadings of any such conspiracy. He made the
following statements:

“24  Inthe present case NBFL is not choosing as between two inconsistent
rights but rather is asserting that one of two possible factual situations exist.
NBFL says at this point, and perhaps not until the Court decides what occurred,
does NBFL have full knowledge of the factual situation so asto enableit to
assert its rights with certainty.

26 ... It may well be beyond the capacity of NBFL to determine at this
point in time whether there was stock manipulation. As| have already noted,
many of the parties who were alleged to have been party to the stock
manipulation scheme continue to deny involvement in any such scheme.

28 | am not convinced at this point that NBFL has “full knowledge” so asto
know what the true situation was in relation to KHI shares and the alleged stock
manipulation. If aparty does not have full knowledge of the circumstances they
should not be barred from setting up alternative pleadings. . . .

45 | am convinced that until the picture becomes much clearer in terms of
the knowledge or participation of any of the parties in these actions the Court
should exercise great caution. In saying this| understand there may well be
further disclosure made by witnesses during the discovery process. The picture
may become clearer in terms of which of the parties were involved in or had
knowledge of specific occurrences or there was an obvious lack of knowledge or
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participation in any wrongdoing, if any. The proceedings may well matureto
the point wher e any of the above-noted issues can berevisited by way of
application. ...” (emphasis added)

[68] Theonly information before the Court asto NBFL’s knowledge of a stock manipulation
scheme involving Clarke was the opinion of NBFL’s then solicitors tendered to the Court by
way of affidavits of Brian Awad (s 43 and 45). Potter submits that, since the November 2004
hearing and in particular during three weeks of testimony given in March 2005 in respect of the
hearing of the application regarding the access to the privileged e-mail accounts, more evidence
exists to support NBFL’ s reasons for alleging wrongdoing by Clarke, and no evidence has
appeared that might support awithdrawal of the material fact allegations against Clarke. He
points out that James Hodgson was NBFL'’ s counsel at the time of the March 2005 hearing and
was aware of thisevidence. He had been counsel since December 2003.

[69] Specificaly, Mr. Potter relies upon the Haber evidence which Justice Scanlan had not
heard at the time of his decision respecting inconsistent pleadings. He argues that NBFL had put
forward no new evidence that might suggest that NBFL has now reached the point, referred to by
Justice Scanlan, of “full knowledge’, that could be the basis for the present application to
withdraw all material fact allegations against Mr. Clarke.

[70] Responding to Mr. Coles ora submission that NBFL was an analogous situation to that
of OickleinL & B Electricv. Oickle, he notes that in that case (1 11), Oickle had filed an
extensive affidavit (in which he put forth material fact allegations to support the proposed
amendment), and been cross-examined on it. Potter’s point isthat NBFL, in this application,
refuses to give any reason for the proposed amendment and this constituted evidence that they
are acting not in good faith but rather in bad faith.

[71] Potter takesissue with Mr. Coles’ comparison of NBFL’s position in this case with that
of Jones Power in Mitsui. He asked rhetorically: What equivalent “factual” reality existsin this
case that changes the “landscape” with respect to Clarke' s actions?

[72] Ontheissues of bad faith and prejudice, he notes that Justice Scanlan in his May 2005
decision (2005 NSSC 113) almost stayed NBFL’ s claims because of its misconduct but in
declining to stay the claims he stated at s 50 and 51.

“50 ...l simply caution NBFL not to be blinded by those headlights to the
extent that they would be prepared to sacrifice innocent investors or to use their
financial might to crush litigants into submission in a situation in which it may

result in aninjustice. In that regard litigation may not be an option for some of
the affected parties.

51 NBFL should consider which, if any, of the actions with the parties now
before the Court should proceed to trial as opposed to finding some alternative,
perhaps mediated, type of resolution. It may well be that as aresult of these
proceedings NBFL would be able to determine whether some of the parties now
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joined in the action were participantsin or victims of a stock manipulation
scheme, if one did exist.”

[73] Potter submits that instead of acting on this “caution” NBFL seeksto write out of its
material fact alegations, the least likely person to be “innocent” or a“victim”.

C5 SMSSsResponse

[74] Like the other respondents, counsel reviewed the history of NBFL’s pleadings and drew
the Court’ s attention to the reason Lorie Haber gave under oath (after Justice Scanlan’s 2005
“inconsistent pleadings’ decision) for NBFL suing Clarke as a participant in the stock
manipulation conspiracy. (The answer to Q. 330).

[75] He submitsthe application is made in bad faith for several reasons:
a) No explanation is given for the proposed amendments.

b) The possible excuse that NBFL’ s present counsel are new - “fresh faces’ -
simply untrue. Mr. Hodgson has been on the case since December 2003 and Mr. Coles since
June 2005. These counsel have amended their pleadings on many occasions since 2003 and
always alleged the stock manipulation conspiracy with Clarke as a participant.

C) The evidence of Mr. Haber, Mr. Parrish and Mr. Awad in March 2005 established
astrong basis for the allegation of a stock manipulation conspiracy with Clarke in a central role.
No new information or disclosure, that might suggest that Mr. Clarke was not a part of the
alleged conspiracy, exists.

[76] The brief directs the Court’ s attention to the proposed deletions in § 66 and 109 (68 and
111 in the existing statement of claim) of the Main Action. The deletions leave a considerable
gap in the conspiracy allegations, thereby denying the respondents fair notice of the particulars
of NBFL’s claim. The paragraphs with the proposed changes read:

“66. The aforementioned defendants made availabl e the af orementioned accounts
for usein perpetratl ng the scheme set out |n '[hIS cI am. ﬁvt—al-l—mateﬁal—tmﬁeﬁ

109. From October 2000 through to May 2001, Potter, Wadden, Colpitts,
Schelew and Imrie engaged in a number of purchase transactions for KHI shares
W|th the view to dom| nati nq the “ buvs de” of the TSX market for KHI shar&e
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[77] SMSS submitsthat CPR 21 - Withdrawal of Admissions - applies to this application.
Relevant considerations and factors are as outlined in the case law, including among other cases
Kame Sushi, Maingot, and L. & B. Electric Ltd. v. Oickle. The principlesinclude:

1 leave should be granted when the applicant acts bona fide and where there is no
prejudice to others not compensable in costs.

i) admissions are deliberate concessions for the benefit of the other parties.

iii) withdrawals of allegations that result in a dramatic shift in a parties’ position
should be treated as attempts to withdraw admissions.

iv) circumstances leading to the withdrawal of admissions are relevant
considerations.

V) acivil caseis an agreement between parties to seek resolution of a dispute on
matters they chose to put in issue; at some point it isunfair to permit one party to alter the
matters they choose to put in issue.

vi) the determinative factors should be:

D whether there is atriable issue;

2 the effect of delay and prejudice on the other parties; and,

3 the applicant’s explanation as to why the factual pleadings should be
withdrawn.

[78] NBFL’sbad faith arises from:
a) the fact that since Justice Scanlan’s January 2005 decision it has become

apparent, primarily through the evidence of Mr. Haber, Mr. Parrish and Mr. Awad, and the
production of aforensic report that was submitted in 2002 to regulatory agencies, that NBFL
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conducted a thorough investigation before commencing the Main Action alleging a stock
mani pulation conspiracy involving Clarke;

b) NBFL’s present legal counsel have repeatedly confirmed their position and
strategy in suing Clarke as a co-conspirator;

C) Justice Scanlan’s observation in his May 10", 2005 decision (2005 NSSC 113)
that NBFL appeared motivated to deflect attention away from itself for the purposes of the
regulatory investigations and to show itself asavictim (1 49) confirms a strategy of blaming
Clarke and others at atime when the strategy was in the best interest of NBFL. The timing of the
application to withdraw the material fact allegations against Clarke - when the Ristow summary
judgment application in these proceedings was eminent - was a convenient time to drop a
position which was not in NBFL’ s ultimate best interests;

d) in early 2002 NBFL provided a manipul ation/conspiracy analysis to securities
regulators, but now refusesto disclose it claiming litigation privilege and that disclosure to the
regulators did not constitute waiver of privilege;

€) NBFL refuses to provide any explanation for its substantial change in position.

[79] Asto prejudice, Mr. Rook notes that the proposed amendments will require other parties
to respond with amendments of their own. Thisfurther delay islargely the results of NBFL's
prior misconduct and delays, and affects the ability of impecunious defendants, such as Mr.
Dunham, to continue as a litigant.

[80] Mr. Rook further claims a specific prejudiceto SMSS. By commencing, through the
Main Action, a stock manipulation conspiracy claim against SMSS, Clarke and other “insiders’,
and then seeking to withdraw the material fact allegations/admissions against Clarke, NBFL
“effectively seeksto hold SMSS liable for all losses, even though the claim against SMSSis
limited to vicarious liability for the actions of Blois Colpitts’. Thislossincludes Mr. Haber’s
estimate of NBFL’s Debt Action claims of $7,000,000.00.

[81] The proposed amendmentswill “suddenly” - six years after NBFL’s prior material fact
allegations - require SMSS to prove Clarke’ s involvement in a conspiracy which until now was
admitted by NBFL and which involvement is a matter entirely within the knowledge of NBFL as
Clarke's employer. SMSS may not be able to get access to relevant persons to inquire asto the
involvement of Clarke six years after the fact. It was not necessary, in light of NBFL’s prior
position, to have access to those persons. In light of the proposed amendment, even if access
were obtained, memories may have failed and for other reasons access and cooperation may not
occur. Thisprgjudiceto SMSS, leaving it in effect “holding the bag” cannot be compensated for
in costs. At this stage of these proceedingsit is unjust and unfair.
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[82] Inora argument, counsel for SMSS notes that it was a defendant in the Main Action and
athird party defendant in the others. It had been “dragged into the litigation by NBFL’s
conspiracy theory”. Apparently, none of the other plaintiffsin any of the actions sued SMSS.

[83] Mr. Rook spoke about the definition of a civil conspiracy and how the proposed
amendment was deficient in its attempt to maintain the civil conspiracy action without the
material fact alegations against Clarke. He submitted that assuming a conspiracy existed as
alleged by NBFL, the legal requisites for proof of the conspiracy were those described by the
Supreme Court of Canadain Canada Cement LaFarge Ltd. v. British Columbia Lightweight
Aggregate Ltd. [1983] 1 S.C.R. 452 which decision and the law was thoroughly analyzed in
Brian Awad’s March 5™, 2003 memo at Pages 6 to 12.

[84] Mr. Rook submitsthat acivil conspiracy cannot be founded upon an agreement alone
(unlike acriminal conspiracy). A civil conspiracy required the implementation of the plan and
consequential damage to the plaintiff.

[85] Theexisting NBFL pleading alleges that Bruce Clarke was the person who implemented
the conspiracy. Only if implemented - and Clarke (and through him NBFL) was the
implementor - does a civil cause of action exist. Without Clarke, there was no civil conspiracy.
Thisis exactly what NBFL’s counsel considered in March 2003 in their extensive factual and
legal analysis before commencing the Main Action. Clarke was an integral part of the analysis.
Only through Clarke did the conspiracy come back to NBFL.

[86] While NBFL could choose, without leave of the Court, to discontinue al claims against
Clarke, or even to have not sued Clarke in the first place, it could not sue for conspiracy without
making material fact allegations of how the conspiracy was implemented and this meant
alleging, asthey did after careful research (much of which research and knowledge has not
disclosed to the other parties or to the Court), the particular roles of al the parties to the
conspiracy including Clarke. He notes that NBFL considered, before it sued Clarke, the issues of
vicarious liability and ex turpa causa, and their impact on NBFL.

[87] In short, the proposed amendment is deficient in not setting out a cause of action in the
absence of specifying how the conspiracy was implemented.

[88] Mr. Rook’s second point arises from the same circumstance. If NBFL had not included
Clarke in the conspiracy allegations when it commenced the Main Action in 2003, SMSS could
have. At this point the landscape has changed, and SMSSis prejudiced, in a manner that costs
cannot compensate it for, by being exposed to the conspiracy claim brought by NBFL which
originally named Colpitts and Clarke as central figures. If the application to amend is approved,
no longer would SMSS be entitled to point to NBFL with respect to the role of Clarke, even
though hisroleis and has been within the knowledge of NBFL, but not the other parties.

[89] Mr. Rook’sthird focus wasto repeat what Mr. Dunlop and Ms. McGinty had argued with
respect to the requirement that NBFL provide, in affidavit form, an explanation of its proposed
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amendment so that the Court would have a basis for the exercise of its discretion pursuant to
CPR 15. No explanation has been advanced.

[90] Mr. Rook submitsthat it cannot be argued that the May 2005 Order denying NBFL's
present counsel accessto NBFL’s prior counsel, some executives and some of their work
product, is the basis for the proposed amendments. Asaresult of the May 2005 ruling, NBFL
was in effect only denied, in terms of documents and disclosure, about 100 e-mails that were
held to be privileged until the consolidation of Potter’ s new/revived action against SMSS with
the Main Action. Thereis no evidence before this Court that denial of access to these e-mailsis
the reason for, or supports, the proposed amendments. Furthermore, before May 2005, there was
no restriction on NBFL or its present counsel that blocked their access to any NBFL executives
or documents, including access to Guy Roby who worked with Lorie Haber on thisfile. Only
NBFL’s present counsel knows what information they received from these persons and what it
means.

[91] Mr. Rook’sfourth focus was on bad faith. In addition to the absence of a good faith
explanation for the proposed amendments, three reasons exist to find that the proposed
amendments were simply atactical move made in bad faith:

1) NBFL no longer needs to rely upon the allegations against Bruce Clarke to deflect
the regulators, asis clear from their responses at discovery;

i) NBFL now seeks to undermine the claims against them;

iii) having dragged SMSS into the law suits, by removing Clarke, they undermine
SMSS's ability to defend itself.

[92] Astothefirst reason, counsel notes Justice Scanlan’s comments, at Page 45 to 50 of his
May 2005 decision, to the effect that NBFL appeared to have been improperly motivated to
deflect the regulatory bodies’ attention away from NBFL.

[93] Astothethird reason, he notes that the events that are the subject matter of these law
suits occurred between 1999 and September 2001. One party has since died and memories have
faded. All knowledge about what NBFL knew then and what Bruce Clarke did has been,
throughout this time, within NBFL’ s knowledge (even with the limited restrictions since 2005 on
access to about 100 e-mails and to the work product of their prior lawyers). NBFL pleaded
wrongdoing against Clarke in 2003 on the basis of their investigation.

[94] If the proposed amendments are granted, they will lead, at least, to afurther year of delay
in obtaining better particulars and filing of consequential amendments by other parties, thus
further delaying discoveries and the possibility that these parties (other than NBFL) will ever
find out what happened within NBFL. Thisisaprejudice that is significant and cannot be
compensated in costs.
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[95] Inthefinal alternative, if this Court were to allow the proposed amendments, Mr. Rook

submitsthat all of the defendants should be entitled to all of their costs incurred in defending
NBFL’s conspiracy allegations since they were first advanced by NBFL.

C.6  Staffing Strategists Response

[96] Itsposition was given in writing.

[97] NBFL, after initially denying any wrongdoing by itself or Bruce Clarke, and after a
thorough investigation, commenced the Main Action against, and blaming all wrongdoing on,
Bruce Clarke and other conspirators. It thus explicitly diverted attention from themselvesto Mr.
Clarke in documents filed with regulators in respect of their investigations.

[98] The present shift comes on the eve of a summary judgment application in which its
material fact allegations will be detrimental to its position. This amounts to a manipulation of
the Court’ s process.

[99] This, ontop of the misconduct of NBFL and its counsel dealt with by Justice Scanlan in
2005 and his conclusions with respect of improper motive, is evidence of NBFL’s bad faith, and
an abuse of process.

[100] Mr. Belliveau's brief endorses the submissions of Mr. Dunlop and Mr. Rook as to the
history of the litigation, circumstances surrounding this application, and the failure of NBFL to

provide a bona fide reason for its 180 degree flip-flop. These facts demonstrate that NBFL' s sole
motivation is to manipulate the Court process.

D. Analysis

D.1 Admissions

[101] The respondents submit that the material fact allegations in NBFL’ s pleadings constitute
admissions under CPR 21.01.

[102] Pleadings only constitute admissions when they are clearly and deliberately made as
concessions to an opponent.

[103] The respondents argument has appeal. While NBFL initially denied in the debt actions
any wrongdoing by itself or its employee Bruce Clarke, when the stock manipulation scheme
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(conspiracy) involving Clarke as a central figure was raised by Glen Wadden in his defence to
the debt action against him in 2001, NBFL:

a) thoroughly investigated the circumstances;

b) appears to have taken the same view as Wadden, as to the conduct of Clarke, in
its dealings with the securities regulators; and,

C) in 2003 deliberately initiating the Main Action against Clarke and others based
unequivocally on material fact allegations of conspiracy, fraudulent misrepresentation and
wrongdoing of “insiders’ with Clarke performing akey role. This action was not an “in the
alternative” claim. It was an unnecessary action in the context of responding to conspiracy
allegations of those debtorsit had sued, and of the other investorsin KHI who sued NBFL for
alleged wrongdoing by NBFL and/or Clarke.

[104] However, in an earlier application (2005 NSSC 8) Scanlan, J. was asked to strike those
portions of NBFL’ s pleadings which denied the existence of a stock manipulation scheme
involving Clarke, on the basis that they were inconsistent with NBFL’ s pleadings in other
actions (such asthe Main Action) in which NBFL, as plaintiff, made unequivocal material fact
allegations of a stock manipulation scheme/conspiracy in which Clarke was a central figure.

[105] Scanlan, J. dismissed the application. He wrote (Emphasis added):

“21.  Asl have noted in the present caseit is clear that NBFL isalleging in
one series of actions that there was no stock manipulation. 1n other actions
NBFL asserts that there was stock manipulation and relies on it as the basis of its
claim. Inthat sense NBFL is, although in separate actions, “setting up two or
more inconsistent sets of material facts and claiming relief thereunder ..."” 1t must
be remembered that at this point in the many proceedings, all who are alleging to
have been involved in any wrongdoings as regards stock manipulation have
denied any wrongdoing. 1n other words, no matter what NBFL or their
solicitors believe or suspect, theissue of stock manipulation will not be
resolved until sometimeinto thefuture, perhapseven aslateastrial. Onthe
other hand in actions where NBFL have been sued based on allegations that their
employee or employees were involved in a stock manipulation or wrongdoing
they have denied the same. Again thiswill be resolved at some time in the future
perhaps not until trial. | refer again to the above-noted passage from the
Supreme Court Practice and note that NBFL has an obligation not to mix up the
facts belonging to each alternative claim and to set out clearly the facts
supporting each claim for relief. Alternative pleadings are not contemplated by
Rule 14.11 in a case (cases) such as now before the Court. Until a court
determines whether there was stock manipulation NBFL will not know what its
rights or liabilities may be. The complex series of actions puts NBFL in a
situation where they may be entitled to a wide range of rights or subject to
substantial liabilities all depending on whether stock manipulation can be proven




and whether NBFL isvicarioudly liable for improprieties, if any, of its
employees.

24 In the present case NBFL is not choosing as between two inconsistent
rights but rather is asserting that one of two possible factual situations exist.
NBFL says at this point, and perhaps not until the Court decides what
occurred, does NBFL have full knowledge of the factual situation so asto
enableit to assert itsrights with certainty.

26 In the present case | accept that NBFL has pleaded in separate actions
that on the one hand there was no stock manipulation scheme and in the other
action pleaded that there was a stock manipulation scheme. | again refer to Viadi
Private Islands Limited v. Haase and note that even though the pleading in the
separate actions are inconsistent | proceed on the assumption the facts as
contained in the pleadings are true. It may well be beyond the capacity of NBFL
to determine at this point in time whether there was a stock manipulation. Asl
have already noted, many of the parties who were alleged to have been party to
the stock manipulation scheme continue to deny involvement in any such
scheme.

27 NBFL saysit has some evidence to suggest there was such a scheme and
that a civil offence was committed. | do not intend to go through the various
pleadings as put forth by NBFL. | simply state that it would appear NBFL has,
where possible, pleaded the factsin the alternative. On the issue as to whether or
not there was a stock manipulation it would be inappropriate at this stage to have
the rules of pleadingsimpose upon NBFL an obligation as to what actually
occurred. Thereisacomplex series of proceedings before the courts wherein
that very issues will be determined.

28 | am not convinced at this point that NBFL has*full knowledge” so
asto know what the true situation wasin relation to KHI shares and the
alleged stock manipulation. If aparty does not have full knowledge of the
circumstances they should not be barred form setting up alternative pleadings. |
accept that many of the issues in the related actions will depend on afinding as to
whether there was a stock manipulation scheme. | am satisfied the various
parties will have different causes of actions or remedies depending on whether
the alleged wrongdoings can be proven.

29 NBFL hasin some instances pleaded factsin the alternative. To the
extent they may not have done so | would have permitted an amendment to the
pleadings so as to allow alternative pleadings. Because of the various assertions
and denials by the different parties, inconsistencies are unavoidable and the
pleadings must be in the alternative or at least deemed to be in the alternative. 1t
would be an offence to the administration of justice to require a party such
as NBFL to choose between one or two possible sets of facts only to discover
after alengthy trial, or in thiscasetrials, that the alter native wasin fact
true. To apply the rules of pleadingsin such away would prevent NBFL or any
other parties affected by circumstances of these cases from embarking on a fact-
finding process which would first ascertain the truth as regards what occurred

Page: 27
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and then to have a reasonable application of law so as to determine what the
rights, liabilities and remedies of the various parties should be.”

[106] In upholding this decision, Bateman, J.A. for the Court of Appeal (2005 NSCA 139)
wrote:

“15 A party may make inconsistent allegationsin a pleading provided they
are pleaded in the aternative. Defences commonly contain “inconsistent”
pleadings.

21 ... It seemed to be his submission that where a party has strong evidence
of one position, that party may not plead another position in the aternative. We
do not agree. .. . Thereis, of course, ample authority for the proposition that a
party may not plead that which it knows to be false, or a sham, or wholly
fictitious: . . . counsel for the appellants has confused the well recognized
principle that one cannot plead something known by the pleader within its own
knowledge to be false, with a principle requiring the party to plead only what the
pleader knowsto be true. Thefirst statement is correct; the latter isnot. An
opinion of solicitors based on their belief that there is strong evidence to support
aproposition does not result in the client thereby “knowing” that any other
position isfalse.”

[107] Tofind that NBFL’s pleadings respecting a stock manipulation conspiracy involving
Clarke constituted admissions would require this Court to reverse the analysis of Justice Scanlan
and the Court of Appeal. It would requirethat | find the pleadings were not made in the
aternative. That question has already been decided and it would be inappropriate for this Court,
indirectly or by implication, to reverse that finding. The passages quoted in the decision from
Justice Scanlan are however very relevant to my analysis of the present amendment application.

D.2  Civil Procedure Rulesrespecting pleadings and amendments

[108] Therelevant Civil Procedure Rules (“CPR”) include (emphasis added):

“14.04. Every pleading shall contain a statement in a summary form of the
material facts on which the party pleading relies for his claim or defence, but not
the evidence by which the facts are to be proved, and the statement shall not be
as brief as the nature of the case admits. [E. 18/7(1)]

14.09. A party may plead claims or defences in the alternative.



14.11. Unless aparty amends his pleading, he shall not in any pleading make
any allegation of fact or raise any new ground or claim, inconsistent with a
previous pleading of his. [E. 18/10]

14.12. (1) Subject to paragraph (2), every pleading shall contain the

necessary particulars of any claim, defence or other matter pleaded, including
@ particulars of any misrepresentation, fraud, breach of trust,
wilful default or undue influence on which the party pleading relies, and
(b) where a party pleading alleges any condition of the mind of
any person, including any disorder or disability of mind or any malice,
or fraudulent intention, or other condition of mind except knowledge,
particulars of thefacts on which the party relies. [E. 18/12(1)(4)]

14.14. Subject to rules 14.15 and 14.18, a party in his defence or in any
subsequent pleading shall,
@ specifically admit every material allegation of fact in apleading
of the opposite party which is not disputed by him, and al allegations of
fact in the pleading which are not specifically admitted shall be deemed
to be denied and need not be traversed, either specifically or generally;
[E. 18/13]
(b whereit isintended to prove a different version of facts than that
relied upon by the opposing party, plead his version of the facts; and
(© specifically plead any matter, for example, performance,
release, payment, any relevant statute of limitation, statute of frauds,
fraud, or any act showing illegality that,
)] might make any claim or defence of the opposing
party not maintainable;
(i) if not specifically pleaded, might take the opposing
party by surprise
(iii) raises issues of fact not arising out of the preceding
pleadings. [E. 18/8(1)]

15.01. A party may amend any document filed by him in a proceeding, other
than an order,

@ (not applicable)

(b (not applicable)

(©) at any time with the leave of the court.

37.02.(D) A notice of application shall set forth with sufficient particularity
the nature of any claim being made or of any question sought to be determined,
and of any relief or order claimed, and have attached thereto a true copy of any
affidavit to be used in support of the application, . . .”

Page: 29
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D.3 Legal test for amending pleadings

[109] | accept the synoptic adoption by Fichaud, J.A. in Jeffrey v. Naugler, of s 12 and 13 of
the analysisin Consolidated Foodsv. Stacey, and 139 and 40 in Scott MaritimesPulp v. B F
Goodrich. | note also Wright, J.’sanalysisin 2001 NSSC 178, 16 to 11.

[110] NBFL’sbrief advances further considerations that infuse the analysis:

a) in Gillis Construction v. Nova Scotia Power, Davison, J., noted that the onus
was on those opposing the application, but added “lengthy delay and the natur e of the
amendment raises the presumption of pre udice which must be rebutted by he who seeks the
amendment” (Emphasis added);

b) the text Odgers on High Court Proceedings and Practice states: “either party is
ordinarily given leave to make such amendments as is reasonable necessary for the due
presentation of hiscase...” (Emphasis added)

C) in Lamey, the Court of Appeal cautioned Chambers judges from “engaging in an
extensive investigation of the merits of the proposed amendment by examining the differing case
law” ... when “all that is necessary” isthat the “proposed amendments raise a justiciable issue’,
an analysis similar to the “reasonable cause of action analysis’ in applications pursuant to CPR
14.25(1)(a).

[111] The respondents, using different terminology, submit three other considerations:
a) in Banco de Inversion, at 15, (and in other cases) the Court stated as follows:

“Pleadings should be so framed that they contain all material factsin a
sufficiently clear, organized and concise form such that all of the constituent
elements of each cause of action being alleged are set out. . . . The defendant
must not be left to speculate or guess the particulars of the case alleged against
him or her or of the remedy sought.”

b) in Jachimowicz, citing Shorev. Cantwell and Cantwell, the Court suggested
that the party seeking to amend must establish why the amendment is sought, and that the
amendment, if made, would present an issue worthy of trial and prima facie meritorious; and,

C) in assessing the proposed amendment, the Court should rely upon the affidavit
evidence filed in support of the proposed application (Jachimowicz supra and Mikisew supra)
showing that the amendment is necessary.

[112] This application brings into focus the issue of onus.
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[113] On the one hand, NBFL takes the position that it need not explain to the Court, by
affidavit or otherwise, the reason for the amendment. Such would amount to this Court
improperly considering the merits of the proposed amendments and would be contrary to the
caselaw, the history of which is described in Consolidate Foods v. Stacey and adopted by our
Court of Appeal in Jeffrey v. Naugler. It says the respondents have the sole burden of
persuading the Court that the applicant is acting in bad faith or creating a prejudice that cannot
be compensated in costs.

[114] On the other hand, the respondents submit that in none of the caselaw dealing with
proposed amendments does the applicant fail to explain or refuse to explain the reason for the
proposed amendment (except Jachimowicz). It isnormal and contemplated by CPR 37.02 that
an applicant file something to explain the basis upon which the Court should exerciseitsjudicial
discretion. The respondents and the Court are left to speculate and, if necessary, to infer motives
where there exists no explanation for the proposed amendment. This, the respondents say, is
fundamentally unfair.

[115] In some cases, it may be obvious what the reason for the amendment is and no further
explanation is necessary. In other cases, the reason for the amendment may not be obvious.
Whilel agreethat it is an unusual approach for an applicant to seek that the Court exercise
discretion without giving an explanation, the absence of any direct explanation can be assessed
as part of the traditional or ordinary analysis, that is, whether the application is made in bad faith
or may cause prejudice which cannot be compensated in costs. In other words, it is open to the
Court to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence before it and the absence of evidence
beforeit.

D.4 Whether NBFL's proposed amendments respecting conspir acy and fraudulent
repr esentation comply with CPR 14.04 and 14.12

[116] The respondents point out that the removal of Clarke’s name from NBFL’s
conspiracy/fraudulent misrepresentation pleadings leaves its pleadings deficient in two respects:

a) it does not, without Clarke, give reasonable disclosure of the alleged conspiracy
and how it was effected, and,

b) as submitted by SMSS, it falls short of alleging acivil conspiracy at all, asit does
not allege an act done to carry out the conspiracy.

[117] CPR 14.04 requires every pleading to contain a statement in summary form of the
material facts on which the party pleading relies. CPR 14.12(1) adds that every pleading shall
contain the necessary particulars of, among other things, any misrepresentation, fraud or breach
of trust, and “where any malice, or fraudulent intention or other condition of mind except
knowledge [is alleged], particulars of the fact on which the party relies’.
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[118] Mr. Potter has provided a breakdown of NBFL’s Main Action pleadings. Sixty-five of
one hundred and five paragraphs contain allegations of material fact; only nine do not involve
Clarke. Of the many paragraphs that, either by inference or directly, describe Clarke’s
involvement, the most important are present paragraphs 68 and 111 (proposed paragraphs 66
and 109). They are set out in Y 76 of this decision.

[119] | agree with Mr. Rook’s submission that Brian Awad’s March 2003 memo contains an
accurate synopsis of the law of civil conspiracy as enunciated by the Supreme Court in Canada
Cement LaFarge.

[120] In furtherance of CPR 14.12(1), the requirements respecting pleadings of conspiracy are
described in several texts. | cite only three.

[121] Bullen & Leake & Jacob’'s Precedents of Pleadings, Fourteenth Edition (2001; Sweet &
Maxwell; London) Section 50: Conspiracy states:

“50-01: Different types of conspiracy. Conspiracy is “the agreement of two or
more to do an unlawful act, or to do aunlawful means’ ... Historically, there
are two kinds of conspiracy, the elements of which are distinct:

(D] an “unlawful means’ conspiracy in which the participants
combine together to perform acts which are themselves
unlawful; and

2 a combination to perform acts which, although not themselves
per se unlawful, are done with the sole or predominant purpose
of injuring the claimant: “it isin the fact of the conspiracy that
the unlawfulnessresides’, . . .

Necessary elements of an action in conspiracy. The claimant must plead and
prove the following necessary elements:

1 a combination or agreement between two or more individuals
(required for both types of conspiracy);

i) an intent to injure (required for both types of conspiracy but
must be shown as the sole or predominant purpose for type (2)
above);

iii) pursuant to which combination or agreement and with that
intention certain acts were carried out;

iv) resulting loss and damage to the claimant.

50-04: The acts done pursuant to the conspiracy. These are known as overt
acts and must be set out in the particulars of claim including details of who is
aleged to have acted and what they did. For an “unlawful means’ conspiracy
(type (1) above), each unlawful act should be set out and pleaded as a separate
cause of action.”

[122] Remediesin Tort, edited by Linda Rianaldi, Chapter 3 “ Conspiracy”, by Janet Kee
(looseleaf to release 8-2007: Carswell), states:
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“38 In an action for damages for conspiracy, the statement of claim should
set out the parties to the agreement and their relationship to one another,
particulars of the agreement, the purpose or object of the conspiracy, the overt
acts done in pursuance of the agreement and the damages suffered by the plaintiff
from those acts.

39 A plaintiff must name all of those alleged to beinvolved in the
conspiracy in his pleadings, even if he has elected to sue only one. (Emphasis
added)

39.1 Theplaintiff must plead the particulars of the acts allegedly done by the
defendants in concert or combination pursuant to the agreement.

39.2 A plaintiff who makes an alegation as serious as conspiracy but cannot
give any particulars of the allegation must adduce some evidence, even if very
little, in order to require a defendant to answer. Defendants should not be called
upon to answer a bald allegation of conspiracy of which there is no evidence and
of which no particulars are given. At the same time, the court is entitled to draw
an inference that the defendants acted in concern in relation to an allegation of
conspiracy where some information is provided with respect to the conspiracy.
Specifics of various aspects of the conspiracy may not be available to the
plaintiff until examinations for discovery, and it may be premature to strike a
claim for conspiracy at the pleading stage.

39.3 Itisproper to use interrogatories to seek the names of active participants
in an alleged conspiracy since the identity of the alleged co-conspiratorsis
material to the plaintiff’s case.”

[123] A relevant observation isfound in Rose Park Wellsey InvestmentsLtd. v. Sewell,
1972 CarswellOnt 233, (Master) at 1 10:

“10  Withregard to the particulars of the remaining paragraphs, firstly dealing
with para. 7. 1 do not think a Plaintiff can allege conspiracy as he hasdone
herewithout at least naming those alleged to be involved whether he chooses
not to suethem or otherwise. To permit this could permit afishing expedition
without bringing home to the defendant in the pleadings the case he has to meet.
The paragraph is prefaced by the statement that full particulars are not known by
the plaintiff and sets out particulars as known by the plaintiff. Thereisno
affidavit indicating that the particulars of the conspiracy are not within the
knowledge of the defendant and that the particulars are necessary for pleading
and, accordingly, | would not order particulars of para. 7 other than the names of
persons described as “others’ in the said paragraph and aswell inpara. 6. . . "
(Emphasis added)

In that case, the plaintiff filed an affidavit claiming that the particulars of the conspiracy were
not known to him. In thisrespect, Rose Park differs from the case at bar.
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[124] Another useful sourceis The Supreme Court Practice, atri-annual annotated review of
the English Supreme Court Rules of Practice published by Sweet & Maxwell. My copy is 1985.
Order 20 rule 5(1) is similar to our CPR 15.01©. In the annotations to thisrule, the writers state:

“In practice, leave to amend is given only when and to the extent that the
proposed amendments have been properly and exactly formulated, see Derrick v.
Williams (1939) 55 T.L.R. 676; per Farwell L.J. in Hyamsv. Suart King [1908]
2K.B. 696, p.724; J. Leavey & Co. V. Hirst [1944] K.B. 24, per Lord Green
M.R., p.27.

Itisaguiding principle of cardinal importance on the question of amendment
that, generally speaking, all such amendments ought to be made “for the purpose
of determining the real question in controversy between the parties to any
proceedings or of correcting any defect or error in any proceedings’ (see per
JenkinsL.J. in G.L. Baker Ltd. v. Medway Building & Supplies Ltd. [1958] 1
W.L.R. 1216, p.1231; [1958] 3 All E.R. 540; p.546).

[125] | agree with the respondents that the proposed amendments, which remove akey party to
the conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation and who is described in the pleading as
fulfilling aunique role, leaves alarge unexplained gap in the material fact allegations of acivil
conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation. On its face, the proposed amended pleading does
not meet the requirements of CPR 14.12(1).

[126] This, however, does not in and of itself mean that this Court should dismiss the
application to amend the pleadings. If, in applying the traditional bad faith/prejudice analysis,
this Court were to determine that NBFL has a bona fide reason for the proposed amendment
(recognizing that the onus is on the respondents to show the absence of a bona fide reason from
which | may infer bad faith), and if | determine that the deficiencies could be appropriately dealt
with by ademand for particulars pursuant to CPR 14.24 and that such would not meet the
requisite prejudice (that is, prejudice not compensable in costs), then | should not deny the
amendment application.

[127] Simply put, the fact that the proposed amendments are made without explanation and are
deficient in particularizing the civil conspiracy to the degree that it complies with CPR 14.12(1)
isafactual finding relevant to the application of the traditional bad faith/prejudice test.

D.5 Bad Faith

[128] The onusis on the respondents to establish bad faith.

[129] None of the parties directly briefed or addressed the Court on the meaning of the term
“bad faith” as used in the case law for the purposes of applying thistest. My reading of those

cases submitted suggests there is not a clear and consistent approach. That may be why both
sides to this application advanced other considerations (See part D.3 of thisdecision.)
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[130] Isbad faith the absence of good faith, or doesit require more? Isit dishonesty of belief
or purpose? Or isit impossible to make a complete catalogue of types of bad faith (as stated in
the American Restatement (Second) of Contracts, 1125 [1979])?

[131] In Phipson on Evidence, Fourteenth Edition, by M. N. Howard et al (1990; Sweet &
Maxwell; London), Chapter 16, the chapter on proof of state of mind, Part 6 and Part 9 are about
good and bad faith. The authors provide important guidance as to relevant considerations for
assessing whether NBFL’ s application is made in bad faith when they write:

“A party’ s good faith in doing an act may generally be inferred from any facts
which would justify doing it. In such cases the state of his knowledge; or the
advice, however erroneous, that he received; or the information, whether true or
false, on which he acted, may often be relevant. So, to show the bonafides of a
party’ s belief asto any matter, it is admissible to show the state of his knowledge,
and that he had reasonable grounds of belief or that it was shared by the
community or even by the individuals similarly situated to himself; while the
absence of reasonable grounds of belief in the existence of afact (e.g. means of
knowing the opposite) is evidence of want of honest belief.”

[132] Gordon Hilliker, Q.C. has written texts on insurance law for severa years. He suggests
that the term “bad faith” may be a misnomer. In the context of contract law, he writes that it
involves the breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, and forbids parties from concealing
what they privately know, or, stated in the positive, impose a duty to disclose all material facts. It
does not require malicious or high-handed behaviour.

[133] Seldom does a party declare his or her bad faith. The Court is entitled to draw inferences
from the totality of the circumstances surrounding the application including:1) the state of
knowledge of the applicant, 2) the advice, however erroneous, it received,and 3) the information,
whether true or false, upon which it acted, in determining the good or bad faith of a party.

[134] My assessment of bad faith encompasses consideration of the fact that NBFL’s
discontinuance of all claims against Mr. Clarke is a different process and has a different purpose,
than its application to amend pleadings of material facts, so as, in this case, to substantially alter
its theory of a stock manipulation conspiracy and how it was enacted.

[135] Inthe context of this case, an important consideration is the absence of a bona fide
explanation by NBFL of the reason for deleting the material fact allegations against Clarke.

[136] Aspreviously noted, in November 2004, Justice Scanlan heard an application made by the
respondentsin this application to strike one version of NBFL’s“inconsistent pleadings’ - that is,
the allegation of the existence of a stock manipulation scheme and Clarke sroleinit. Justice
Scanlan accepted the representations and position put forward by NBFL that, at that time, while
they believed that such a scheme involving Clarke, the scheme was denied in pleadings of the
alleged conspirators, and NBFL did not have “full knowledge” of the circumstances.
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[137] Relevant to this application is Justice Scanlan’ s analysis of when NBFL may bein a
position, and when it should not be put in a position, to choose among different possible factual
matrices. His observations are important in light of the evidence before the Court on this
application that there is no factual basis proffered for NBFL to be now seeking to withdraw the
material fact allegations about Mr. Clarke' s involvement in the conspiracy/fraudul ent
misrepresentation, even if it wished to withdraw its claim for relief against him.

[138] Justice Scanlan’s observations include:

“24 ... NBFL saysat this point, and perhaps not until the Court decides what
occurred, does NBFL have full knowledge of the factual situation so asto enable
it to assert its rights with certainty.

26 ... It may well be beyond the capacity of NBFL to determine at this point
in time whether there was stock manipulation. . .. many of the parties who were
alleged to have been party to the stock manipulation scheme continue to deny
involvement in any such scheme.

27 ... itwould be inappropriate at this stage to have the rules of pleadings
impose upon NBFL an obligation to choose as between one alleged set of
circumstances versus the other when it is not within their full knowledge asto
what actually occurred. . . .

28 I am not convinced at this point that NBFL has “full knowledge” so asto
know what the true situation was in relation to KHI shares and the alleged stock
manipulation. If aparty does not have full knowledge of the circumstances they
should not be barred from setting up alternative pleadings. . . .

29 ... It would be an offence to the administration of justice to require a
party such as NBFL to choose between one or two possible sets of facts only to
discover after alengthy trial, or in this case trias, that the alternative was in fact
true. To apply the rules of pleadings in such away would prevent NBFL or any
other parties affected by circumstances of these cases from embarking on a fact-
finding process which would first ascertain the truth as regards what occurred and
then have areasonable application of law . . .

33 ... itisnot clear as to which parts of the defence or claims made by
NBFL will succeed or fail. That will depend on a complex set of facts which have
yet to be determined by a Court. . .. Assuming the pleadings are true, thisis more
just an attempt by NBFL to put the applicants to the expense of a costly trial.
Assuming the pleadings are true they are more than an attempt to simply delay or
embarrass the other parties. Again | point out at this stage of the proceedingsit is



Page: 37

permissible for NBFL to plead factsin the alternative until all facts are “known”
to NBFL.” (Emphasis added)

[139] NBFL has provided no explanation of the factual basis for the application to remove the

material fact allegations against Clarke. There is no representation or affidavit or other evidence
before the Court in relation to this application to indicate that facts are now known to NBFL that
were not known in November 2004, and that those facts suggest that Clarke was not involved in

the wrongdoing alleged by NBFL from 2003 until last summer.

[140] The respondents to this application have provided unchallenged evidence that would
reinforce the position taken by NBFL’s former counsel and put before Justice Scanlan in
November 2004 as to the involvement of Bruce Clarke in whatever stock manipulation schemeis
alleged to have occurred.

[141] The absence of any evidence or representation from NBFL that their knowledge of the
facts has so matured that their submissions to the Court in November 2004 no longer hold true, is
disconcerting.

[142] NBFL did, on October 2™, 2007, discontinue any and all claims, cross-claims,
counterclaims and third party claims brought by it against Bruce Clarke.

[143] Discontinuance of a proceeding differs from amending pleadings. A discontinuanceis
simply an abandonment of aclaim. In Nova Scotiait may be done as of right and without leave
(CPR 40.01). Itisclear from reading Odgerson Civil Court Actions, Twenty-Fourth Edition
(1996; Sweet & Maxwell; London), 1 17.05, that at common law the abandonment of proceedings
does not constitute a bar to bringing a fresh action under more favourable circumstances on the
same material fact allegations. Nothing in Nova Scotia Civil Procedure Rules would prevent that.
NBFL represented to this Court that Mr. Potter has done just that in this case in respect of his
discontinued and then recommenced claim against SM SS.

[144] To amend the pleadingsisto make a changein amaterial fact allegation. It isnot
axiomatic that the discontinuance of a claim against a party is or should be synonymous with a
change in amaterial fact allegation, especially in multiparty proceedings such as these cases. A
review of the law of civil conspiracy confirmsthat it is not necessary to sue all partiesto a
conspiracy, but it is necessary to name them (if known) and to describe their role. In my view, it
would be inappropriate to fail to name, and describe the role of, a person believed to be a party to
aconspiracy, or to withdraw material fact allegations against him or her, regardless of whether
the claimant wishes to pursue aremedy against that person. In any proceeding, and in this
litigation involving severa related actions, the material fact allegations affect more than just the
party pleading or the party to whom the amendment or pleading is directed.

[145] NBFL may choose, as of right, to discontinue its claims against Clarke without having to
amend the material fact allegations contained in the statements of claim in respect of his alleged
involvement in a conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation directed toward NBFL. It isnot
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prohibited from commencing a new action on the same material fact allegations against Clarke at
alater time.

[146] Of significance to this Court on this point was the answer to the request made, by counsel
for Keating, to NBFL to undertake not to introduce evidence of any wrongdoing by Clarke (that
is, evidence in support of the present material fact allegationsin the pleadings against Clarke),

and further an undertaking not to introduce evidence that Charles Keating should have known of
market manipulation conducted by Clarke or wrongful acts of Clarke that contributed to the losses
Keating claims from NBFL.

[147] Inwriting, NBFL declined to give any such undertaking. At the hearing of this
application, Mr. Coles, on behalf of NBFL, appeared to be saying that it could not restrict what
evidence may be introduced at trial by it or by others. NBFL’s response to the Keating request
confirmsin the Court’s mind that NBFL will not be restricted in the evidence it may proffer at
trial - whether such evidence was known before November 2004, or is known now, or islearned
through the completion of the outstanding pre-trial processes, or by its own further investigations.

[148] During athree week hearing in March 2005, Lorie Haber, Alan Parish and Brian Awad
testified as to the basis for NBFL’s commencement of the Main Action against Clarke and others
alleging a conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation. This evidence, tendered to this Court,
established the thoroughness of the NBFL investigation before it made, in good faith, the material
fact allegations against Clarke.

[149] Since the November 2004 hearing, it has been disclosed that Joel Wiesenfeld, one of
NBFL’sformer counsel, commissioned and obtained a forensic report from PriceWaterhouse
(over which it presently claims litigation privilege and has not disclosed) which report it did
provide to IDA, RS Ltd. and NSSC (Nova Scotia Securities Commission) in or about 2002 to
support its conduct in respect of investigation by those regulatory agencies into alleged breached
of securities laws by NBFL.

[150] Bruce Clarke entered into a settlement agreement with the Nova Scotia Securities
Commissions upon agreed facts that included that he acted as the investment advisor, while
employed by NBFL, for an insider group trading in KHI sharesin a manner that violated
securities laws and, in effect, improperly manipulated the price of KHI shares. Thisinformation
supports NBFL’ s “inconsistent pleadings’ argument of November 2004, and the material fact
allegations NBFL made against Clarke. That settlement agreement is contraindicative of NBFL’s
present application, without explanation, to withdraw the material fact allegations against Clarke.

[151] NBFL’spresent legal counsel have been on the job, in the case of Mr. Hodgson, since
December 2003, and in the case of Mr. Coles, since June 2005. The restrictions placed on them
by Justice Scanlan in May 2005 (2005 NSSC 113), reaffirmed again in an order in December
2007, did restrict accessto NBFL’s prior legal counsel and some senior NBFL executives and
their work product, and until 2007, to about 100 privileged e-mails from the KHI server; however,
there is no evidence before the Court that this restricted them from accessing any of NBFL’s
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documents or records that were not created by the quarantined individuals after the collapse of
KHI, or the PriceWaterhouse forensic report (which counsel acknowledge having), or access to
most of NBFL' s staff, or the documents disclosed by all the other parties to thislitigation.

[152] NBFL does not represent, or place before this Court any evidence, that would suggest, that
they now have the “full knowledge’ that they did not have in November 2004 or that such “full
knowledge” isto the effect that Bruce Clarke had no involvement in the alleged conspiracy and/or
fraudulent misrepresentation as set out in the material fact allegations made by them, in good faith
and after athorough investigation, in 2003 in the Main Action and in pleadings in related actions
since then.

[153] Itisreasonabletoinfer, and the respondents have satisfied me on the basis of the material
before the Court, that NBFL has no bona fide reason to alter the material fact allegations made
against Bruce Clarke at thistime. Its discontinuance of claims against Bruce Clarke (which is not
irrevocable) does not justify “the sea change” in its material fact allegations respecting the
participation of Bruce Clarke in an aleged conspiracy or other wrongdoing. To the extent that
NBFL convinced Justice Scanlan in November 2004 that their state of knowledge of the actions
of Bruce Clarke was a bona fide basis for alleging his involvement in a conspiracy, if one existed,
it has not even attempted to proffer some factual basis, in the face of the respondents’ submission
that no basis exists, for the withdrawal of the allegations. Thisrings of bad faith.

[154] Thisconclusion is supported by the absence of an alternative explanation in the proposed
amendments as to how the alleged conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation were affected on
NBFL without Clarke, and further supported by NBFL' s refusal to endorse Keating' s request that
NBFL undertake not to introduce at trial evidence supporting the material fact allegations they
wish to withdraw.

[155] The absence of an explanation for a proposed amendment is an unusual approach in any
application. It was relied upon by Justice L egere-Sersin Jachimowicz where she concluded that
the amendment would open up a new inquiry not supported by facts, and, in light of the litigation
history, would cause injury, costs and prejudice that could not be compensated in costs. Her
analysis and conclusions are relevant to the analysis of this application.

[156] Bad faith isnot something that the offender admitsto. It usually is proven from conduct
and the absence of an explanation, and seldom from the words of the offender. The timing of the
change in NBFL’ s position was shortly before counsel for Mr. Ristow gave notice of his intention
to resurrect and pursue the summary judgment application against NBFL, which NBFL was
notified would be focused on Bruce Clarke’ s actions while an employee of NBFL. It appears that
the removal of the material fact allegations against Mr. Clarke might make it easier for NBFL to
respond to this application. Whether or not it would be a successful tactic is not necessarily
relevant. The fact that it may assist NBFL is some evidence that the proposed amendment has a
tactical purpose unrelated to NBFL’ s knowledge with respect to the material fact allegations
against Mr. Clarke.
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[157] | accept as evidence supporting the bad faith argument that NBFL did conduct a thorough
investigation of Bruce Clarke' srole in the alleged conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation
before it made the material fact allegations against him. NBFL has had the best accessto, and the
best means to analyse, the documents and records of Mr. Clarke' sinvolvement in the alleged
wrongdoing. Much of this evidence has come to light since the November 2004 hearing that |ead
to the “inconsistent pleadings’ decision of Justice Scanlan in January 2005. NBFL till claims
privilege and has not disclosed some of that evidence.

[158] NBFL declined to undertake, in the Keating action, not to introduce evidence of
wrongdoing by Clarke, and the discontinuance of their claims against Mr. Clarke do not prevent
them from introducing at trial evidence of the conduct of Clarke in respect of the alleged
conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation.

[159] | can and do infer from the absence of any factual basis for withdrawing the material fact
allegations respecting Mr. Clarke’ sinvolvement in the alleged conspiracy, and the tendering of
materials by the respondents suggesting that if a conspiracy existed that Clarke was a key
participant in it, that the proposed amendment is not sought in good faith.

[160] Asthewriters of the Phipson test note, motive or state of mind is generally inferred from
conduct. Thetiming of the proposed amendment coincides precisely with Mr. Dunlop’s
advancement in the Ristow summary judgment application against NBFL, which application is
centred on Mr. Clarke’s conduct as an employee of NBFL. The inference that the proposed
amendment is motivated by that summary judgment application, and not by some new or “full
knowledge” of Clarke' s actions that have not been disclosed to this Court, isirresistible.

[161] Consequences of granting NBFL’s application include:

a) adrawn-out process of demands for particulars by the respondents in respect of
NBFL’s new theory of the conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation without Clarke as the
prime implementor. This could involve more than ten sets of legal counsel representing
approximately forty different partiesin the related actions;

b) alengthy process of applications for amending pleadings by the respondents, to
adjust to what is amaterial change in NBFL’ s conspiracy theory; and

C) possible applications by those who relied on NBFL’ s pleadings against Mr. Clarke,
to now seek leave to add Bruce Clarke as a party, and, if necessary, to seek relief from expired
limitation periods under the Limitation of Actions Act.

D.6 Preudice

[162] Asevidenced by the uncontradicted affidavits of Craig Dunham, one of the defendants to
NBFL’s claimsisinsolvent and on the verge of being unable to defend the claims brought against
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him because of the ongoing delays and complexities of the litigation and its wearing affect on his
financia capacity to continue. Inevitably his emotional will to continue is compromised by this.
Thisisapregudice that cannot be compensated by an award of costs that are not punitive (and
therefore not an option). The respondents submit that it is obvious that there are other defendants
of claims by NBFL who will soon be in the same situation. It isamatter of common sense that
parties with the deepest pockets have a greater capacity to withstand the financial, time and
emotional stress of litigation.

[163] A review of the twists and turnsin the pleadings and disclosure phases of this litigation
over the past seven years, leads to the common sense conclusion that those litigants with the
deeper pockets have a better likelihood to have their case properly prepared and presented to the
Court than those who have empty or near empty pockets. It isobviousthat all of the litigants to
these actions do not have the same financial stake in the action (that is, in absolute termsor in
relative terms), or the same capacity to protect their interestsin thislitigation. Thisis not
litigation between parties similarly situated with similar capacitiesto effectively participate.
Many of them are defendants in the 16 debt actions and/or third parties added by NBFL in the
Main Action in respect of their claim of conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation. They are
not the initiators of the litigation.

[164] Thisfactor isaconsideration in assessing whether the proposed amendment of the
material fact allegations against Clarke, in the context of the position taken by NBFL and
accepted by the Court in November 2004, and in the absence of any evidence since that time
suggesting that the material fact allegations against Clarke are no longer true, should be
permitted. NBFL is unable to undertake or to represent that at trial it will not introduce evidence
of acts by Clarke that might establish at trial the alleged conspiracy and fraudul ent
misrepresentation or that Clarke was a party to it. It may be unreasonable to expect NBFL to give
such an undertaking, unlessit has clear evidence at this stage that would negate the possibility of
involvement in an alleged conspiracy. It would be irresponsible for this Court to blindly accept
such an undertaking, especially in the absence of any basis to believe that NBFL now has new
information that would suggest that he had no role in any alleged conspiracy or fraudulent

mi srepresentation.

[165] This application to amend pleadings affects not only NBFL but all of the other parties to
these proceedings. In considering the effect on the respondents, such as Mr. Dunham (whose
affidavits were not challenged), | conclude that even the award of all costs, on a solicitor/client
basis (an exceptional, unusual and sometimes punitive award), would not remove the prejudice. |
am not satisfied that the case law cited to the Court, that defines the requisite prejudice as being
prejudice not compensable in costs, was intended to encompass an award of costs that was
exceptional, unusual or punitive.

[166] Based on the affidavits of Mr. Dunham, and on the application of common sense to the
circumstances and history of these proceedings, it is likely that further delay in the “ pleadings”
stage of these proceedings would similarly prejudice other litigants (mostly defendants who do
not have deep pockets) in continuing to pursue this litigation in more than a nominal way unless
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an award of such substantial costs were made as would enable them to continue. Such an award
is not appropriate. It isrelevant consideration in assessing the question of prejudice not
compensable in costs.

[167] Any further delay in the pleadings stage of these proceedings, which has already stretched
almost seven years, absent avery clear basis for that delay, will prejudice the smaller defendants
in their ability to litigate the issues on their merits.

[168] The Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Canada has often expressed concern with
respect to delays in the civil justice system and their effect on the relevance of the system. In one
such address to the Empire Club of Canada at Toronto on March 8", 2007, (posted on the
Supreme Court’ s website) she made relevant statements that infuse the issue of pregjudice as it
appearsin this case. She said in part:

“On the civil side, different but similar problems arise. Whether the litigation has
to do with a business dispute or a family matter, people need prompt resolution so
they can get on with their lives. Often, they cannot wait for years for an answer.
When delay becomes too great, the courts are no longer an option. People look
for other alternatives. Or they simply give up on justice.”

D.7 Summary

[169] The bottom lineis that:

1 In the context of these proceedings, bad faith can be inferred where NBFL presents
no factual basis for seeking to remove the material fact allegations against Bruce Clarke and the
evidence before me suggests that no such factual basis exists, and the timing of the application
coincides with other proceedingsin thislitigation in respect of which the material fact allegations
are detrimental to NBFL's interests.

2. The prejudice that would be created by the consequential demands for particulars
and reactive pleading amendments in what has already been alengthy pleading process, will
likely result in at |east one, and by the application of common sense, more than one of the
defendants becoming incapable of presenting their case on its meritsin an effective manner. This
prejudice is not compensable by an award of non-punitive costs.

3. The proposed amendment leaves alarge void in the requisite elements for pleading

acivil conspiracy and fraudulent misrepresentation that is not in compliance with the letter or
spirit of CPR 14.12(1).

[170] The application is dismissed.
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